
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No.

FEDERAL TM DE COM M ISSION

Plaintiftl

PRIM E LEG AL PLANS LLC, a Delaware

limited liability company; CONSUM ER
LEGAL PLANS LLC, a N evada limited

liability company; CONSUM ER LEGAL
PLANS, LLC, also d/b/a CLP Associates, a

W yoming limited liability company;

FREEDOM  LEGAL PLANS LLC, a

Delaware limited liability company;

FRONTIER LEGAT, PLANS LLC, a

Delaware limited liability company;

REACHING U NETW ORK, INC.,

also (l/b/a Legal Billing Services, Legal
Servicing Partners, Forensic Auditor

Services, 123 Save Our Home, Save Our

Home Plan, Home Savers, Legal Network

Association, and Homeowners Rescue

M ission, a Florida corporation; 123 SAVE A

HOM E, INC., a Nevada corporation;

AM ERICAN H ARDSHIP LLC, a Florida

limited liability company; BACK OFFICE
SUPPORT SYSTEM S LLC, a Florida

limited liability company; CONSUM ER

ACQUISITION NETW ORK, LLC, also
d/b/a Consumer Legal Network, Legal

Servicing & Billing Partners, Forensic

Auditor Services, Telefunding Services,

M ortgagesakers.org, First Capital Land Trust,

and Florida Land Trust Consultants, a Florida

limited liability company; LEGAL

SERW CING AND BILLING PARTNERS

LLC, a Delaware lim ited liability company;

LAZARO DINH, a/k/a M ario Lazaro Sopena
a/k/a Lazaro Sopena, an individual;

(FILED UNDER SEAL)
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KIM  E. LANDOLFI, an individual;

DEREK B. M DZIKOW SKI, an

individual; ANDREW  PRIM AVERA, an

individual; CHRISTOPHER N.
EDW ARDS, an individual; and JASON C.
DESM OND, an individual,

Defendants, and

THE 2007 SAN LAZARO
IRREVOCABLE LIFE INSURANCE

TRUST, a trust, and M ARIA SOLTUM , in
her capacity as Trustee of the trust.

Relief Defendants.

PLM NTIFF FEDERAL TRADE COM M ISSIONSS COW LM NT

FOR PERM ANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (ETTC''), for its Complaint alleges:

The FTC brings this action under Sections 13(b) and 19 of the Federal Trade

Commission Act (CTTC Act''), 15 U.S.C. jj 53(b) and 57b, the Telemarketing and Consumer

Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act Cû-felemarketing Act''), 15 U.S.C. j 6101 et seq., and the 2009

Omnibus Appropriations Act, Public Law l l 1-8, Section 626, l23 Stat. 524, 678 (Mar. l 1, 2009)

(tçomnibus Act''), as clarified by the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and Disclosure

Act of 2009, Public Law 1 1 1-24, Section 51 l , 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 22, 2009) (Etcredit

Card Act''), and amended by the Dodd-Frank W all Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act,

Public Law 1 1 1-203, Section 1097, 124 Stat. 1376, 2102-03 (Ju1y 21, 2010) CEDodd-Frank

Act''), 12 U.S.C. j 5538, to obtain temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief,

rescission or refonnation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of i11-

gotten m onies, and other equitable relief for Defendants' acts or practices in violation of Section
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5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 45(a), the FTC'S Telemarketing Sales Rule (ûtTSR''), 16 C.F.R.

Part 310, and the Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule CIMARS Rule''), 16 C.F.R. Part 322,

recodified as Mortgage Assistance Relief Services (Regulation O), 12 C.F.R. Part 1015

(tlRegulation 0''), in connection with the marketing and sale of mortgage assistance relief

services.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This Court has subject matterjurisdiction ptzrsuant to 28 U.S.C. jj 1331, 1337(a),

and 1345; 15 U.S.C. jj 45(a), 53(b), 57b, 6102(c), and 6105(b); and Section 626 of the Omnibus

Act, as clarified by Section 51 1 of the Credit Card Act, and am ended by Section 1097 of the

Dodd-Frank Act, 12 U.S.C. j 5538.

Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. j 1391(b) and (c), and 15 U.S.C.

j 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

Plaintiff FTC is an independent agency of the Urlited States Government created

by statute. 15 U.S.C. jj 41-58.The FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15

U.S.C. j 45(a), which prohibits unfai.r or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. In

addition, the FTC enforces the Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule IM ARS Rule), 16

C.F.R. Pa14 322, effective December 29, 2010, and its recodiGcation as Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R.

Part 10l 5, effective December 30, 201 l . Dodd-Frank Act j 1097, 12 U.S.C. j 5538. Among

other things, the M ARS Rule and Regulation O require M ARS providers to make certain

disclosures, prohibit M ARS providers from making certain representations, and, effective

January 31, 201 1, prohibit M ARS providers from collecting a fee in advance of the consumer's

acceptance of mortgage assistance relief obtained by the M ARS provider.

3
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The FTC also enforces the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. j 6101 et seq. Pursuant

to the Telemarketing Act, the FTC promulgated and enforces the TSR, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which

prohibits deceptive and abusive telem arketing acts or practices.

The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings by its own

attorneys to enjoin violations of the FTC Act; the TSR; the MARS Rule; and Regulation 0; and

to secure such equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case, including rescission or

reformation of contracts, restitution, the reftmd of monies paid, and the disgorgement of i1l-

gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. jj 53(b), 56(a)(2)(A)-(B), 57b, 6102(c), and 6105(b); j 626, l23 Stat.

at 678, as clarified by j 51 1, 123 Stat. at 1763-64 and amended by j 1097, 124 Stat. at 2102-03,

12 U.S.C. j 5538.

DEFENDANTS

Defendant Prim e Legal Plans LLC is a Delaware limited liability company that

identifies its address as 160 Greentree Drive, Suite l0l , Dover, Delaware. As part of the

common entemrise described in paragraph 26, Pn'me Legal Plans LLC markets, provides, offers

to provide, or arranges for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified

as 12 C.F.R. j l0l 5.2. Prime Legal Plans LLC transacts or has transacted business in this

District and throughout the Ulzited States.

Defendant Consum er Legal Plans LLC is a Nevada lim ited liability company

that identifies its address as 871 Coronado Center Dlive, Suite 200, Henderson, Nevada. As pa14

of the common entemrise described in paragraph 26, Consumer Legal Plans LLC (Nevada)

markets, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16

C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2.Consumer Legal Plans LLC (Nevada)

transacts or has transacted business in this District and tllroughout the United States.
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Defendant Consumer Legal Plans, LLC, also d/b/a CLP Associates, LLP, is a

W yoming limited liability company that identifies its address as 199 E. Flagler Street, #1460

M iami, FL 33131. As part of the common enterprise described in paragraph 26, Consumer Legal

Plans, LLC (Wyoming) markets, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide

M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Consumer Legal

Plans, LLC (Wyoming) transacts or has transacted business in this District and throughout the

United States.

10. Defendant Freedom Legal Plans LLC is a Delaware limited liability company

that identifies its address as 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, Delaware. As part of the

common enterprise desclibed in paragraph 26, Freedom Legal Plans LLC markets, provides,

offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide MARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2,

recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Freedom Legal Plans LLC transacts or has transacted

business in this District and throughout the United States.

l l . Defendant Frontier Legal Plans LLC is a Delaware lim ited liability company

that identifies its address as 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, Delaware. As part of the

common enterprise described in paragraph 26, Frontier Legal Plans LLC markets, provides,

offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2,

recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Frontier Legal Plans LLC transacts or has transacted business

in this District and throughout the United States.

12. Defendant Reaching U Network, Inc. (t:RUN'') is a Florida non-profit

corporation that identifies its address as 701 Brickell Avenue, Suite l 550, M iami, Florida. As

part of the common entemrise described in paragraph 26, RUN markets, provides, offers to

provide, or arranges for others to provide MARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as
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l 2 C.F.R. j 1015.2. RUN transacts or has transacted business in this District and throughout

the United States. Although RUN obtained 501(c)(3) status from the Internal Revenue Serdce

(:tlRS'') in the past, that status was revoked on May 15, 2010. RUN operates for the economic

beneût of for-profh companies and/or private persons and is therefore a ''com oration'' within

the meaning of Sections 4 and 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. jj 44 and 45(a).

Defendant 123 Save A Hom e, Inc. is a Nevada non-profit com oration that

identifies its address as 2360 Corporate Circle, Suite 400, Henderson, Nevada. As part of the

comm on enterprise described in paragraph 26, 123 Save A Home markets, provides, offers to

provide, or arranges for others to provide MARS, as defmed in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as

12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. 123 Save A Home, lnc. transacts or has transacted business in this District

and throughout the United States. Upon infonnation and belief, 123 Save A Home, lnc. has not

obtained 501(c)(3) status from the IRS. l23 Save A Home, Inc. operates for the economic

benefit of for-profit companies and/or private persons and is therefore a kçcom oration'' within

the meaning of Sections 4 and 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. jj 44 and 45(a).

Defendant Am erican Hardship LLC is a Florida limited liability company that

identifies its address as 1001 N . W est Street, Suite 1200, W ilmington, Delaware. As pal4 of the

common enterprise described in paragraph 26, American Hardship LLC markets, provides, offers

to provide, or arranges for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified

as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. American Hardship LLC transacts or has transacted business in this

District and throughout the United States.

Defendant Back Office Support System s LLC is a Florida limited liability that

identifes its address as 5200 N . Federal Highway, Suite 2-1069, Fort Lauderdale, Florida. As

part of the com mon enterprise described in paragraph 26, Back Oftice Support Systems LLC
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markets, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16

C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Back Oftke Support Systems LLC transacts or

has transacted business in this District and throughout the United States.

16. Defendant Consum er Acquisition Network, LLC, also d/b/a Consumer Legal

Ne- ork, Legal Servicing & Billing Partners, Forensic Auditor Services, Telefunding Services,

M ortgagesavers.org, First Capital Land Trust, and Flolida Land Trust Consultants, is a Florida

limited liability company that identifies its address as 168 SE 1st Street, #604, M iami, Florida.

As part of the common enterprise described in paragraph 26, Conszlm er Acquisition Network,

LLC markets, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide M ARS, as defined in

16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Consumer Acquisition Network, LLC

transacts or has transacted business in this District and throughout the United States.

Defendant Legal Servicing and Billing Partners LLC is a Delaware limited

liability company that identifies its address as 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover,

Delaware. As part of the common enteprise described in paragraph 26, Legal Serdcing and

Billing Partners LLC markets, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide

M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Legal Servicing and

Billing Partners LLC transacts or has transacted business in this District and throughout the

United States.

Defendant Lazaro Dinh, a/k/a M ario Lazaro Sopena a/k/a Lazaro Sopena is an

individual who, acting alone or in concert with others, has operated and continues to operate

businesses that market, provide, offer to provide, or arrange for others to provide M ARS, as

detined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Dinh, acting alone or in concert

with others, and through interrelated entities described in paragraphs 7 through 17, has
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fonnulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and

practices set forth in this complaint. At times material to this complaint, Dinh is or was

treasurer of l23 Save A Home, lnc. and an owner of Consum er Acquisition N etwork, LLC. ln

connection with the m atters alleged herein, Dinh transacts or has transacted business in this

District and tluoughout the United States.

19. Defendant Kim E. Landolfi is an individual who, acting alone or in concert with

others, has operated and continues to operate businesses that market, provide, offer to provide,

or arrange for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R.

j l 015.2. Landolfi, acting alone or in concert with others, and through interrelated entities

described in paragraphs 7 tluough l 7, has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to

control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in tllis complaint. At times material to

this complaint, Landolfi is or was a manager, managing member, principal, or owner of

American Hardship, LLC and Freedom Legal Plans LLC. In connection with the matters

alleged herein, Landolf transacts or has transacted business in this District and throughout the

United States.

20.

with others, has operated and continues to operate businesses that market, provide, offer to

Defendant Derek B. Radzikowski is an individual who, acting alone or in concert

provide, or arrange for others to provide MARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as

12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Radzikowski, acting alone or in concert with others, and through

interrelated entities described in paragraphs 7 through 17, has formulated, directed, controlled,

had the authority t; contTol, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint.

At tim es material to this Complaint, Radzikowski controlled and had the autholity to control the

business practices of the common entem rise described in paragraph 26, individually or with

8
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others. ln cormection with the matters alleged herein, Radzikowski transacts or has transacted

business in this District and throughout the United States.

Defendant Andrew Primavera is an individual who, acting alone or in concert

with others, has operated and continues to operate businesses that market, provide, offer to

provide, or arrange for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodifed as

12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Primavera, acting alone or in concert with others, and through interrelated

entities described in paragraphs 7 through 17, has formulated, directed, controlled, had the

authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint. At times

material to this complaint, Primavera is or was a director and secretary of 123 Save A Home,

Inc. and an owner of Consumer Acquisition Network, LLC. ln connection with the matters

alleged herein, Primavera transacts or has transacted business in this District and throughout the

United States.

22. Defendant Christopher N. Edwards is an individual who, acting alone or in

concert with others, has operated and continues to operate businesses that market, provide, offer

to provide, or arrange for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified

as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Edwards, acting alone or in concert with others, and tllrough interrelated

entities described in paragraphs 7 tllrough 17, has formulated, directed, controlled, had the

authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint. At times

material to this complaint, Edwards is or was the Chief Executive Oftk er of RUN. In

connection with the matters alleged herein, Edwards transacts or has transacted business in this

District and tluoughout the United States.

23. Defendant Jason C. Desm ond is an individual who, acting alone or in concert

with others, has operated and continues to operate businesses that market, provide, offer to

Case 0:12-cv-61872-RNS   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/24/2012   Page 9 of 31



provide, or arrange for others to provide M ARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. j 322.2, recodified as

12 C.F.R. j 1015.2. Desmond, acting alone or in concert with others, and through interrelated

entities described in paragraphs 7 tluough 17, has formulated, directed, controlled, had the

autholity to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint. At times

material to this complaint, Desmond is or was a principal of American Hardship LLC. ln

colmection with the matters alleged herein, Desm ond transacts or has transacted business in this

District and throughout the United States.

RELIEF DEFENDANTS

24. Relief Defendant The 2007 San Lazaro Irrevocable Life Insurance Trust

ttt-frusf'l is a trust with at least one balzk account in its name in Florida. The Trust has received

funds or assets that can be traced directly to Defendants' unlawful acts or practices alleged

below, and it has no legitimate claim to those funds.

25. Relief Defendant M aria Soltura is an individual who serves as the trustee for the

Trust. The Trust has received funds or assets that can be traced directly to Defendants'

unlawful acts or practices alleged below, and it has no legitimate claim to those funds.

COM M ON ENTERPRISE

At tim es material to this complaint Defendants Prime Legal Plans LLC;

Consllmer Legal Plans LLC (Nevada); Consumer Legal Plans, LLC (W yoming); Freedom

Legal Plans, LLC; Frontier Legal Plans, LLC; RUN; 123 Save A Home, lnc.; American

Hardship, LLC; Back Oflk e Support Serdces LLC; Consumer Acquisition Network, LLC; and

Legal Servicing and Billing Partners, LLC, have operated as a common entemlise while

engaging in the deceptive acts and practices set forth below. These Defendants have conducted

those acts and practices through an interrelated network of companies that have common

10
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ownership, business functions, and employees; that have commingled funds; and/ör that have

shared one another's marketing materials. ln addition, these Defendants have operated from

two prim ary offke locations: 6451 N . Federal Highway, Suite 1200, Fort Lauderdale, Florida,

and 2400 East Comm ercial Blvd., Fort Lauderdale, FL. Because these Defendants have

operated as a common entemrise, each of them is jointly and severally liable for the acts and

practices alleged below. Defendants Dinh, Landolfi, Radzikowski, Primavera, Edwards, and

Desmond, have formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in

the acts and practices of the Defendants that constitute the comm on enterprise.

COM M ERCE

27. At a1l times relevant to this complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial

course of trade in or affecting commerce, as çfcommerce'' is defined in Section 4 of the FTC

Act, 15 U.S.C. j 44.

DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS PM CTICES

Overview

28. From at least mid-2010 to present, Defendants, through operation of the common

enterprise, have engaged in a course of conduct to advertise, market, sell, provide, offer to

provide, or arrange for others to provide M ARS, including loan document and transaction

reviews, mortgage loan modilkation serdces, and foreclosure defense services.

29. Defendants market their services in a variety of ways, including tlzrough websites

and, directly and tlzrough their agents and telemarketers, by contacting consumers nationwide

through tmsolicited telem arketing calls.M any of these consumers registered their phone

numbers with the National Do Not Call Registry prior to being called by Defendants.
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Defendants also engage in inbound telemarketing when consum ers call in response to marketing

efforts or advertising.

30. Defendants prey on financially distressed homeowners by luring them into

membership programs with promises that they will receive full-service legal representation

from expert foreclosure defense attom eys who will fight their lenders to save their hom es from

forecloslzre or make their mortgage payments more affordable. In addition to legal

representation, Defendants purport to provide consumers enrolled in certain of their programs

with forensic loan audits and other reports to identify errors in their mortgage loan documents

and to ferret out predatory lending practices, and to gather information that attorneys will use to

defend against foreclosure and win concessions from lenders.

Defendants charge a monthly fee of either $595 or $750, depending on how much

the consum er is willing to pay. M emberships last for an open-ended period of time. ln

numerous instances, Defendants have failed to obtain any relief for their customers.

32. The name of the m embership program has changed numerous times, and has been

offered through numerous entities under the following names:Freedom Legal Plans, American

Legal Plans, Consumer Legal Plans, Frontier Legal Plans, Prime Legal Plans, and currently,

Prime Access Management Ecollectively, Etegal Plans''q.

Reachlne U Network

Defendants marketed Legal Plans through ttReaching U Network'' until arotmd

November 201 1. They represented to consumers that Defendant RUN was a non-profit

organization and exempt from taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, even

though the lnternal Revenue Service revoked Rlm 's tax-exempt status on M ay 15, 2010.
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34. Defendants operated numerous websites featuring RUN, including but not limited

to: www.wearereachingu.com ; www .reachingutoo.com; www.reachingunetwork.com ;

www.reachinguamedca.com; www.reachingu.net; www.reachingu.info; www.reachingu.com;

www.reacllinglzzhelp.org; www.reachingutoday.com ; www.mylibertyfinancial.com;

www.homehelpline.org; www.golegallz3.org; www.americantlp.com ;

www.lz3savemyhom e.com ; www.lz3keepmyhom e.com ; and www.helpingnownetwork.com

(collectively, tIRUN Websites''). While some of these websites varied from each other in

certain respects, their content was largely identical. They al1 listed toll-free telephone numbers

for consumers to call for a çifree consultation.''

çûNon-profit charitable organization'' was emblazoned over a red background

across the center of the RUN W ebsites landing pages. The following text appeared tmderneath:

Reaching U is helping thousands of Americans stay in their homes

through the ltsave Our Home Plan.'' Fill out our case analysis

form to see if you qualify for one of our foreclosure prevention

programs, short sale or çtllardest Hit Program'' available now in 27

States. W e also have credit advocates available in a11 50 states.

36. The following text began near the m iddle of the RUN W ebsites landing pages:

01.1r charity is here to help you with . . .

Fair Housing Pre-purchase Education W orkshops.

Financial M anagem enfBudget Cotmseling.

Home Improvem ent and Rehabilitation Counseling.

M ortgage Delinquency and Default Resolution Counseling.

Non-Delinquency Post Purchase W orkshops.

Predatory Lending Education W orkshops.
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Credit Counseling. - You can qualify for legal

representation without an up front retainer.

37. A red stop sign containing the text CtSTOP Foreclosure Fraud'' appeared at the top

of the landing pages of the RUN W ebsites. Clicking on the stop sign took consllmers to an

online program enrollm ent form.

38. At the bottom of the RUN W ebsites landing pages, the words, tiReport a LOAN

M OD SCAM ,'' appeared in red as a hyperlink. Clicking on the hyperlink took cohszlmers to the

Eçcontact Us'' page on the website, which contained an online form through which consumers

could submit information including contact information and the best time to be reached.

The following disclaimer appeared at the bottom of the landing page of the RUN

W ebsites: tEReaching U Network provides educational information only and does not provide

legal advice. Every case is unique and outcomes will vary depending upon the facts and legal

issues of yotlr case. Please do not make any decisions about any legal matter without consulting

an attorney tirst.'' The disclaimer appeared in a font substantially smaller than the font of the

text of the rest of the landing page, and on most of the RUN W ebsites, was visible only if the

consum er scrolled down to the bottom of the page.

40. The tçAbout Us'' page contained the following description of RUN :

Reaching U Network is a non-for profit 501c3 organization

established in 2001 and became active in the community at the

end of 2009.

W e survey consumer Esicl that need legal representation and
educate them on their rights as a consum er.

W e are funded by private corporations and donations and we

are building up cases for 201 1 in order to qualify for
government funding.

Our mission statement is to help those who cannot afford legal
representation by using donations to help pay for
representation. W e also have helped homeowners that are at
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risk of losing their home, by paying their past due balances in
order to avoid foreclosure.

Our call centers use Tele-funders to raise money tlu'u donations

and awareness tlu'u education. A11 of our call centers are

licensed to tele-funds (sicq tlu'u a charitable organization
license. As of 201 1 we are in 13 states.

W e are not a government agency. W e are also not governm ent

funded. W e are a private charity working for struggling

consumers that can't afford legal representation.

W e participate in several commurlity food drives and special
events geared to raise funds or money for Struggling
Americans.

* W e are determined to expose barlk fraud and predatory lending
practices.

Reaching U network does not profit from introducing
homeowners to legal plan providers.

41. The RUN W ebsites contained çT estimonials'' featuling stories from consumers

who purportedly were able to avoid foreclosure or otherwise stay in their homes as a result of

the efforts of RUN or Legal Plans and its network attomeys.

42. The RUN W ebsites also included Spanish webpages. W hile the information on

the Spanish webpages was substantially similar to the information provided in the English

versions, the Spanish webpages (translated from Spanish into English) urged consumers to call

a toll-free telephone number for :ta FREE Analysis of your case'' and stated that 1680% of

residential loans contain some type of fraud or irregularity.'' The Spanish portions of the RUN

W ebsites did not contain any disclaimers about the eftkacy of the Defendants' services.

The Evolution of the Lezal Plans M arketinq Scheme

43. In late 201 1, Defendants stopped using RUN as the prim ary face of their

operations. Defendants, however, continue to operate several websites to market their services,

including but not limited to: www.lz3saveahome.org; www.regulationz.org;

www .saveourhomeplan.com; www .amehcanlegalplans.com ', www.frontierlegalplans.com ',

www .unitedhomedefenders.com', www.defendmyhome.net; defendmyhouse.com ;
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homeownerhardships.com; www.m avpprogram .com; www.coprograms.org;

www.am ehcaunitedgroup.com ', www.lz3psg.com; www.consumeracquisitioM e> ork.com ',

www.afsoa.com ; www.neighborhoodhelpline.com,' www.homeowneaescueM ssion.com ',

www.am ericanhardship.com ; and www.pHmeaccessm anagement.com. Those websites list toll-

free telephone nllmbers for consumers to call and/or contain an online form through which

consum ers can submit contact information.

44. Other websites that Defendants operate contain the following statements about the

prowess of their network attorneys:

Her mortgage payment was $2,400 per month, she now pays
her attomey $595 per month with no upfront retainer or set up
fee and a11 audits were included. She has been living in her

house paying just $595 for 4.5 years now and the barlk is so
scared of the research the attorney has done, as well as the

discovery perform ed on her loan, that they have backed off her

case. Her attorney filed for a dism issal of the case in court and

it was granted, she now has no lawsuit, no one chasing her

for a paym ent and so m uch evidence of fraud against her
lender that her attorney is filing a suit to get her m ortgage

deleted and her house for free. She has saved over $86,000
in paym ents in 4 years; still lives in the same house her 3 sons

grew up in and she is protected by the attom ey who works on

her case several hours per month for a flat rate of $595 per
month. (emphasis in the original)

Every attorney in the ne- ork concentrates on foreclosure and

goes through an extensive review before being qualified to

participate. ln addition to the review your attom ey is required

to make a commitm ent to provide you with a level of service

that is usually enjoyed only by large comorate clients.

* lmagine being able to fight your foreclosure, having a full legal

defense team working for you, litigating your case in court and

working to reinstate your mortgage. This is far better than

doing nothing and allowing the banks to easily come after you
and take your home that you worked so hard to acquire.

fçl-laving Iegal representation during a foreclosure usually

results in a bank agreeing to restructure the term s of your
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Ioan to produce a payment or reinstatement package you

can affordM (emphasis in the original)

The banks are getting very aggressive and they are using

shrewd law firms to fast forward your foreclostlre case. lt is

your right as an American to fight back with the best defense
team available for your case. W ithout a Am erican Legal Plans

attorney to help you litigate your case, your rights may not be
fully utilized in a Court of Law. Our network attorneys have

helped hundreds of Americans stay in their homes. You too
m ay have a favorable outcome if you choose the right defense

plan.

45. Defendants also market tllrough advertisements posted on internet search engines

and on television advertisements. One of their intem et advertisem ents has appeared as follows'.

Prime Access M anagement - You M ay Get as Low as 2% Fixed Rate
www.afsoa.com/

Low Fixed Fee Solutions. Call Now.

The Sales Pitch

46. Defendants initiate contact with consumers in m any ways, including but not

limited to unsolicited outbound telem arketing calls, inbound telephone calls from consumers

originating from Defendants' websites or other marketing materials, and outbound calls to

consumers in response to information consumers subm it on Defendants' websites.

47. In numerous instances, Defendants and their representatives have told consumers

that they are calling on behalf of a 501(c)(3) tax-exempt and/or non-proût organization about a

community outreach program designed to help stm ggling hom eowners.

48. In numerous instances during unsolicited outbound sales calls to consumers,

Defendants' representatives have told consumers who registered their telephone numbers with

the National Do Not Call Registry that Do Not Call restrictions did not apply to their calls

because of the company's non-protit status.
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lenders, and will be represented by an attorney in their state. Consumers are also told that the

legal representation they will receive includes unlimited telephone consultations and

representation in negotiation, arbitration, and a11 elements of litigation, including depositions,

CoU14 appearances, and motions.

Post-sales Pitch Comm unications

55. ln num erous instances, after the initial sales pitch, Defendants have provided

consumers with additional materials via email to bolster their claims about the outcomes that

consmners who enroll in Legal Plans can expect to achieve. Those materials contain various

claim s about Defendants' services, including:

Lenders are under Federal Investigation for predatory loans,
predatory lending practices and fraud. You have legal rights as

a home owner, and if there are violations in your mortgage you

are entitled to damages or at the least a mortgage you can

afford. A Forensic Loan Audit* and an attorney specializing in

M ortgage/Foreclosure Defense can help you achieve this.

*-rhe Forensic Loan Audit is a 200 point inspection of your

loan documents to see if you have been a victim of predatory
lending or fraudulent practices of any kind. Based on the

findings and the severity of such, the attonzey would be able to

litigate against your lender for damages. Some homeowners

have won their deed in a court of 1aw because of the severity of

the findings.

YOU HAVE RIGHT IS AND NOW  HAVE AT YOUR

DISPOSA 
.

U.L AN ATTORNEY NETW ORK THAT IS

ABLE TO KEEP YO U IN YOUR HOM EUHALT THE

FORECLOSURE PROCESS, AND FIGHT FOR YOUR

RIGHTS!

Post-Enrollm ent

56. During the initial enrollment process, Defendants request payment information

and authorization from consumers. They begin collecting membership fees of either $595 or

$750 per month, usually through automatic debits from consumers' bank accotmts, soon after
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49. In numerous instances, Defendants' representatives have told consumers

expressly or by implication that if they enrolled with Legal Plans they would likely obtain loan

moditk ations or other concessions from  lenders and that the process would be complete witllin

as little as three to four months.

In nllmerous instances, Defendants' representatives have told consumers that

attolmeys working with Legal Plans will be able to prevent foreclostlre, or at a minimum , delay

it.

ln nllmerous instances, Defendants' representatives have told consumers that they

will conduct various audits and reviews of the consumers' loan documents and transactions and

that the majority of audits and reviews reveal fraud, enors, or predatory acts committed by the

lender.

52. In numerous instances, Defendants' representatives have claimed that attom eys in

the Legal Plans network will use the findings from the audits and reviews to defend consumers

against foreclosure and extract concessions from lenders that will lower consumers' montltly

mortgage payments tllrough reductions in loan principal and/or interest rates. They claim that

lenders will grant those concessions to avoid going to court when confronted with proof that

they violated the law.

53. In numerous instances, Defendants' representatives have told consumers that

elw rs or fraud in consumers' mortgage loans and transactions can void a mortgage entirely, and

that even a minor error could nullify a mortgage, giving the consllm er free and clear ownership

of the home.

Defendants' representatives tell oonsumers that by enrolling or continuing

enrollm ent in Legal Plans, they will obtain full-service legal representation to fight their

18
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the consumer's enrollment. Consumers' erlrollment in Legal Plans and payment of m onthly

membership fees is open-ended and could continue indeûnitely.

57. Typically, consumers who enroll in Legal Plans are assigned to a non-attonwy

customer service representative from Legal Plans and a paralegal from  the law t'irm Litvin,

Torrens, & Associates PLLC or Litvin Law Firm , P.C.The Legal Plans representatives and

paralegals act as consumers' prim ary points of contact during enrollment.

In numerous instances, consllmers who enroll do not receive legal representation.

Although they may be assigned an attorney in a nominal sense, many consllmers never meet or

speak to a network attorney licensed in the state where they reside or where the property at issue

is located, or have had only introductory conversations.

59. ln numerous instances, conszlmers who have enrolled in Defendants' programs

have been left to negotiate on their own with lenders. Consllmers enrolled in Legal Plans have

complained that they do not receive the legal representation they were promised.

60. ln numerous instances, consumers enrolled in Defendants' programs have

suffered sigllificant economic injury, including'. paying hundreds or thousands of dollars to

Defendants and receiving little or no service in retum ; going into foreclosure; and even losing

their homes.

61. ln numerous instances, after consum ers have enrolled in Defendants' program s

and paid the requested advance fees, Defendants have failed to obtain a loan modification,

principal reduction, or other relief to stop forecloslzre or make consumers' mortgage payments

affordable.
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VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 45(a), prohibits ççunfair or deceptive acts

or practices in or affecting commerce.''

M isrepresentations or deceptive omissions of matezial fact constitute deceptive

acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

COUNT I

64. ln numerous instances, in colmection with the offering and sale of mortgage

assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, that Legal

Plans and its attorney network generally will obtain mortgage loan moditk ations for consum ers

that will make their payments substantially more affordable, or will help them avoid

foreclosure.

ln truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain mortgage loan

moditk ations for conszlmers that will make their paym ents substantially more affordable, and

generally do not help them avoid foreclosure.

66. Therefore, Defendants' representation as set forth in Paragraph 64 is false and

misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC

Act, 15 U.S. C. j 45(a).

COUNT 11

In numerous instances, in connection with the offering and sale of mortgage

assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, that, as a

result of various loan audits, research, and reviews provided by Defendants, including a forensic

loan audit, they generally will obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers that will m ake

their payments substantially more affordable, or will help them avoid forecloslzre.
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68. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain mortgage loan

modifications for consumers that will make their mortgage payments substantially more

affordable, or help them avoid foreclosure as a result of the various loan audits, research, and

reviews, provided by Defendants.

Therefore, Defendants' representation as set forth in Paragraph 67 is false and

misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC

Act, 15 U.S.C. j 45(a).

THE M ARS RULE

70. ln 2009, Congress directed the FTC to prescribe rules prohibiting unfair or

deceptive acts or practices with respect to mortgage loans. Omnibus Act, j 626, 123 Stat. at

678, as clarified by Credit Card Act, j 51 1, 123 Stat. at 1763-64. Pursuant to that direction, the

FTC promulgated the M ARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 322, al1 but one of the provisions of which

becam e effective on December 29, 2010.

effective on January 31, 2011.

The rem aining provision, Section 322.5, becam e

The M ARS Rule and Regulation O define ttmortgage assistance relief service

provider'' as tçany person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any

mortgage assistance relief service'' other than the dwelling loan holder, the servicer of a

dwelling loan, or any agent or contractor of such individual or entity. 16 C.F.R. j 322.2,

recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.2.

72. The M ARS Rule and Regulation O prohibit any mortgage assistance relief service

provider from requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration until the

consumer has executed a written agreem ent between the consumer and the consumer's loan
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holder or servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider obtained from the loan holder or

servicer. 16 C.F.R. j 322.5(0, recodified as 12 C.F.R. j l0l5.5(a).

73. The M ARS Rule and Regulation O prohibit any mortgage assistance relief service

provider from misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, any material aspect of any

mortgage assistance relief service, including but not lim ited to:

the likelihood of negotiating, obtaining, or arranging any represented service or

result. 16 C.F.R. j 322.3(b)(1), recodified as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.3(b)(1); and

b. the amount of time it will take the mortgage assistance relief service provider to

accomplish any represented service or result. 16 C.F.R. j 322.3(b)(2), recodified

as 12 C.F.R. j 1015.3(b)(2).

74. The M ARS Rule and Regulation O prohibit any mortgage assistance relief serdce

provider from failing to place a statement in every general comm ercial communication

disclosing that (i) the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not

approved by the government or any lender, and (ii) in certain cases, a statement disclosing that

the lender may not agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer uses the provider's service. 16

C.F.R. jj 322.4(a)(1)-(2), recodified as 12 C.F.R. jj 1015.4(a)(1)-(2).

75. The M ARS Rule and Regulation O prohibit any mortgage assistance relief service

provider from failing to place a statement in evely consumer-specific commercial

communication (i) confinning that the consumer may stop doing business with the provider or

reject an offer of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services, (ii) disclosing that

the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not approved by the

government or any lender, and (iii) in certain cases, a statement disclosing that the lender may
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not agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer uses the provider's service. 16 C.F.R.

jj 322.4(b)(l)-(3), recodilied as 12 C.F.R. jj 1015.4(b)(1)-(3).

76. Pursuant to the Omnibus Act, j 626, 123 Stat. at 678, as clarifed by the Credit

Card Act, j 51 1, 123 Stat. at 1763-64 and amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, j 1097, 124 Stat. at

2102-03, 12 U.S.C. j 5538, and pursuant to Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.

j 57a(d)(3), a violation of the MARS Rule or Regulation O constitutes an tmfair or deceptive

act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.

j 45(a).

COUNT II1

In mlmerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, or

arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants ask for or

receive payment before consllmers have executed a written agreement between the consumer

and the loan holder or serdcer that incolporates the offer obtained by Defendants, in violation

of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. j 322.5(a) and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j 1015.5(a).

COUNT IV

78. ln numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, or

arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants, in violation of

the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. j 322.3(b)(1), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j 1015.3(b)(1), have

misrepresented, expressly or by implication, material aspects of their services, including, but not

limited to:

(a) Defendants' likelihood of obtairling mortgage loans modifications for

consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable;
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(b) Defendants' likelihood of obtaining mortgage loan modifications for

consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable as a result of a loan audit

provided by Defendants', and

The amotmt of time it will take the mortgage assistance relief service

provider to accomplish any represented service or result.

COUNT V

79. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, or

arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have failed to

make the following disclosures:

(a) in al1 general commercial communications -

(1) tûgName of Compallyj is not associated with the government, and

our service is not approved by the government or your lender,'' in

violation of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. j 322.4(a)(1), and

Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j 1015.4(a)(1); and

(2) ttEven if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender may

not agree to change your loan,'' in violation of the M ARS Rule, 16

C.F.R. j 322.4(a)(2), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j l015.4(a)(2);

(b) in a11 consumer-specific commercial communications -

ççYou may stop doing business with us at any tim e. You may

accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from

your lender (or servicer). lf you reject the offer, you do not have to

pay us. lf you accept the offer, you will have to pay us (insert

amount or method for calculating the amountl for our services,'' in
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violation of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. j 322.4(b)(1), and

Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j 10l 5.4(b)(l);

(2) itgName of companyq is not associated with the government, and

our service is not approved by the government or your lender,'' in

violation of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. j 322.4(b)(2), and

Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j 1015.4(b)(2); and

ttEven if you accept this offer and use our service, yolzr lender m ay

not agree to change your loan,'' in violation of the M ARS Rule, 16

C.F.R. j 322.4(b)(3), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. j 1015.4(b)(3).

TELEM ARKETING SALES RULE

80. Congress directed the FTC to prescribe rules prohibiting abusive and deceptive

telemarketing acts or practices pursuant to the TSR in 1995, extensively amended it in 2003,

and amended certain provisions thereafter. 16 C.F.R. Part 310.

The 2003 amendments to the TSR established a national do-not-call registry (the

tlNational Do Not Call Registrf'), a list of consumers who do not wish to receive certain types

of telemarketing calls. Consumers can register their telephone mlmbers on the National Do Not

Call Registly without charge either through a toll-free telephone call or over the lntemet at

donotcall.zov. The National Do Not Call Registry is maintained by the FTC.

82. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from initiating outbound telephone

calls to numbers on the National Do Not Call Registzy. 16 C.F.R. j 310.4(b)(1)(iii)(B).

The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from initiating outbound telephone

calls to any consumer when that consum er previously has stated that he or she does not wish to

receive an outbound telephone call made by or on behalf of the seller whose goods or services
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are being offered, or made by or on behalf of the charitable organization for which a charitable

contribution is being solicited. 16 C.F.R. j 310.4(b)(l)(iii)(A).

84. The TSR defines a seller as Atany person who, in connection with a telemarketing

transaction, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide goods or services to the

customer in exchange for consideration.'' 16 C.F.R. j 310.2(aa).

85. The TSR defines a telem arketer as dtany person who, in connection with

telemarketing, initiates or receives telephone calls to or from a customer or donon'' 16 C.F.R. j

310.2(cc).

86. The TSR defmes an outbotmd telemarketing call as a Eçtelephone call initiated by a

telemarketer to induce the purchase of goods or services or to solicit a charitable contribution.''

16 C.F.R. j 310.2(v).

The TSR defines telemarketing as tça plan, program , or campaign wltich is

conducted to induce the ptzrchase of goods or services or a charitable contribution, by use of one

or more telephones and which involves more than one interstate telephone call.'' 16 C.F.R. j

310.2(dd).

The FTC allows sellers, telemarketers, and other permitted organizations to access

the National Do Not Call Registry over the lntem et at telemarketl'nq.donotcall.zov, to pay the

feets) if required by the TSR, and to download a list of numbers that are prohibited from being

called.

89. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from calling any telephone number

within a given area code unless the seller on whose behalf the call is made has paid the ammal

fee for access to the telephone numbers within that area code that are included in the National

Do Not Call Registry. 16 C.F.R. j 310.8. Consumers who receive telemarketing calls to their

27

Case 0:12-cv-61872-RNS   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/24/2012   Page 27 of 31



registered numbers can complain of National Do Not Call Registry violations the same way

they registered, through a toll-free telephone call or over the lnternet at donotcall.uov, or by

otherwise contacting law enforcement authorities.

90. Pursuant to Section 3(c) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. j 6102(c), and

Section l 8(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 57a(d)(3), a violation of the TSR constitutes an

unfair or deceptive act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 45(a).

Defendants are tfsellergsl'' or i6telemarketerlsq'' engaged in tttelemarketing'' as

those tenns are defined in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 310.2(aa), (cc), and (dd).

92. Defendants initiate outbound telephone calls to conszlm ers in the United States to

induce the purchase of Defendants' services.

Defendants have engaged in telemarketing by a plan, program, or campaign

conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services by use of one or more telephones and

which involves more than one interstate telephone call.

COUNT V1

94. In connection with telemarketing, Defendants initiated or caused others to initiate

num erous outbound telephone calls to consumers who have registered their telephone numbers

on the National Do Not Call Registry in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 310.4(b)(1)(iii)(B).

COUNT Vll

95. In connection with telemarketing, Defendants have initiated, or caused others to

initiate, numerous outbound telephone calls to telephone numbers within a given area code

when Defendants had not, either directly or through another person, paid the required annual fee
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of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable

jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts,

restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten morties, to prevent and

remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC.

l0l . Section 19 of the FTC Act, l 5 U.S.C. j 57b, and Section 626 of the Omnibus Act

authorize this Court to grant such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to

consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the M ARS Rule, including rescission and

refonnation of contracts and the refund of money.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant to Sections 13(b) and 19 of the

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. jj 53(b) and 57b, the Omnibus Act, and the Court's own equitable powers,

requests that the Court:

A. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillmy relief as may be

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury dming the pendency of

this action, and to preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including

but not limited to a temporary restrairling order, a preliminary injunction, an

order freezing assets, imm ediate access, and appointment of a receiver',

B. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent ftzttzre violations of the FTC Act, the

M ARS Rule/Regulation 0, and the TSR by Defendants;

C. Award such relief as the Court finds necessaly to redress injuly to consumers

resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, the M ARS

Rule/Regulation 0, and the TSR including but not limited to rescission or
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for access to the telephone numbers within that area code that are included in the National Do

Not Call Registry, in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 310.8.

Azainst Relief Defendants

COUNT V11I

96. Relief Defendant The 2007 San Lazaro Inw ocable Life Instlrance Trust and

Relief Defendant M aria Soltura, as its trustee, have received, directly or indirectly, funds or

other assets from Defendants that are traceable to funds obtained from Defendants' custom ers

through the deceptive and unlawful acts or practices described herein.

97. Relief Defendants are not bona fide ptzrchasers with legal and equitable title to

Defendants' customers' ftmds or other assets, and Relief Defendants will be tmjustly enriched if

they are not required to disgorge f'unds or the value of the benefit they received as a result of

Defendants' deceptive and unlawful acts or practices.

98. By reason of the foregoing, Relief Defendants hold funds and assets in

constm ctive tnzst for the benefit of Defendants' customers.

CONSUM ER INJURY

99. Conszlmers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result

of Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, the M ARS Rule and Regulation 0, and the TSR. In

addition, Defendants have been tmjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.

Absent injtmctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers,

reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

COURT'S POW ER TO GRANT RELIEF

100. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 53(b), empowers this Court to grant

injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations
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reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the

disgorgem ent of ill-gotten monies;

D. Enter an order requiring Relief Defendants to disgorge a11 funds and assets, or

the value of the benefit they received from the funds and assets, wllich are

traceable to Defendants' deceptive and tmlawful practices; and

E. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and

additional relief as the Court may determine to bejust and proper.

oated: septemberl , 2012 Respectfully submitted,

W ILLARD K. TOM

General Counsel

H RAZIER

lfrazier@ftc.gov
REBECCA M .UNRUH

rtznnlh@ftc.gov
JANE RICCI

jricci@ftc.gov
Federal Trade Commission

600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W ., Room NJ 3158

W ashington, D.C. 20580

Telephone: 202-326-2187 (Frazier)
Telephone: 202-326-3565 tunruhl
Telephone: 202-326-2269 (Ricci)
Facsimile: 202-326-3768

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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